

# Registration of a Charge

Company Name: THE SCOTTISH COUNCIL FOR DEVELOPMENT AND INDUSTRY

Company Number: SC024724

Received for filing in Electronic Format on the: 03/05/2021

XA3P7OJC

# **Details of Charge**

Date of creation: 23/04/2021

Charge code: **SC02 4724 0002** 

Persons entitled: DALRIADA TRUSTEES LIMITED AND ROBERT CRAIG CAMPBELL IN

THEIR JOINT CAPACITY AS THE TRUSTEES OF THE SCOTTISH COUNCIL FOR DEVELOPMENT AND INDUSTRY PENSION FUND AND THE BOARD

OF THE PENSION PROTECTION FUND

Brief description: ALL PROPERTY CHARGED UNDER CLAUSE 3.1 OF THE CHARGE,

BEING: (I) BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE ITS INTEREST IN ALL ESTATES OR INTERESTS IN ANY LAND OWNED BY IT AND ANY BUILDINGS, EQUIPMENT AND OTHER FIXTURES AND FITTINGS ON SUCH LAND REFERRED TO OPPOSITE ITS NAME IN SCHEDULE 1 (LAND CHARGED BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE) OF THE CHARGE; (II) TO THE EXTENT NOT SUBJECT TO THE CHARGE BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE UNDER SUBPARAGRAPH (I) ABOVE, BY WAY OF FIXED CHARGE ANY ESTATES OR INTERESTS WHICH IT HAS NOW OR MAY SUBSEQUENTLY ACQUIRE TO OR IN ANY OTHER LAND AND ANY BUILDINGS, EQUIPMENT, AND OTHER FIXTURES AND FITTINGS ON SUCH LAND; (III) BY WAY OF FIXED CHARGE THE PROCEEDS OF SALE OF ANY LAND SO CHARGED BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE OR CHARGED BY A FIXED CHARGE; (IV) BY WAY OF FIXED CHARGE THE BENEFIT OF ANY AGREEMENTS, COVENANTS, COVENANTS OF TITLE, RESTRICTIONS, LICENCES, INSTRUMENTS OR RIGHTS IN RELATION TO ANY LAND SO CHARGED BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE OR CHARGED BY A FIXED CHARGE AND ANY RIGHTS TO SUMS ARISING

OR MONEY PAID IN RELATION TO ANY OF THEM; AND (V) BY WAY OF FIXED CHARGE ALL SUMS ARISING BY WAY OF RENTAL INCOME IN RELATION TO ANY LAND SO CHARGED BY WAY OF LEGAL MORTGAGE OR CHARGED BY A FIXED CHARGE. ALL ITS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

RIGHTS. FOR MORE DETAILS AND FOR DEFINITIONS OF CAPITALISED TERMS, PLEASE REFER TO THE CHARGE.

Contains fixed charge(s).

Contains floating charge(s) (floating charge covers all the property or undertaking of the company).

Contains negative pledge.

# **Authentication of Form**

This form was authorised by: a person with an interest in the registration of the charge.

# **Authentication of Instrument**

Certification statement: I CERTIFY THAT SAVE FOR MATERIAL REDACTED PURSUANT

TO S.859G OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 THE ELECTRONIC COPY INSTRUMENT DELIVERED AS PART OF THIS APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL

INSTRUMENT.

Certified by: BRODIES LLP



# CERTIFICATE OF THE REGISTRATION OF A CHARGE

Company number: 24724

Charge code: SC02 4724 0002

The Registrar of Companies for Scotland hereby certifies that a charge dated 23rd April 2021 and created by THE SCOTTISH COUNCIL FOR DEVELOPMENT AND INDUSTRY was delivered pursuant to Chapter A1 Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006 on 3rd May 2021.

Given at Companies House, Edinburgh on 4th May 2021

The above information was communicated by electronic means and authenticated by the Registrar of Companies under section 1115 of the Companies Act 2006





Certified a true copy save for material redacted pursuant to s859G of the Companies Act 2006

BRODIES LLP

Date: 30 April 2021 Ref: SCO493.16

**Deed of Debenture** 

Dated 13 April 2021

- (1) The Scottish Council for Development and Industry (the Chargor)
- (2) The Trustees of the Scottish Council for Development and Industry Pension
  Fund
  (the Original Secured Party)
- (3) The Board of the Pension Protection Fund (the PPF)

## Contents

	Page
TABLE OF C	ONTENTS
1	Definitions and interpretation4
2	Covenant to pay13
3	Creation of Security13
4	Nature of Security created16
5	Conversion of floating charge17
6	Representations and warranties18
7	Positive covenants21
8	Negative covenants29
9	Voting and other rights32
10	Enforcement33
11	General Security Provisions41
12	Tacking42
13	Further assurance42
14	Power of attorney43
15	Currency43
16	Discharge of Security44
17	Costs and expenses45
18	Assignment46
19	Notices46
20	Calculations and certificates48
21	Partial invalidity48
22	Remedies and waivers48
23	Amendments and waivers49
24	Counterparts49
25	Governing law and enforcement49
Schedule 1	Land charged by way of legal mortgage50

Schedule 2	Shares	51
Schedule 3	Current Accounts	52
Schedule 4	Forms of letter to and from the Account Bank	53
Schedule 5	Form of notice for Insurances	59

#### Deed of Debenture

Dated 23 April 2021

#### Between:

- (1) The Scottish Council for Development and Industry, a company limited by guarantee and registered in Scotland under number SC024724 whose registered office is at 1 Cadogan Square, Cadogan Street, Glasgow G2 7HF (the "Chargor");
- Dalriada Trustees Limited registered in Northern Ireland under Company number NI038344 and whose registered office is at Linen Loft, Adelaide Street, Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8FE and Robert Craig Campbell of in their joint capacity as the trustees of the Pension Scheme (who together with such successor(s) in office as trustee(s) of the Pension Scheme are referred to as the "Original Secured Party"); and
- (3) The Board of the Pension Protection Fund, a statutory corporation established by the Pensions Act 2004 of Renaissance, 12 Dingwall Road, Croydon Surrey CRO 2NA (the "PPF").

#### Whereas:

- (A) The Chargor has issued the Loan Notes in favour of the Original Secured Party.
- (B) The Chargor has agreed to provide Security to secure the payment and discharge of the Secured Liabilities.
- (C) It is intended that following the issue and allotment of the Loan Notes to the Original Secured Party, the Loan Notes, with the benefit of the Security constituted by, and other rights under, this Deed, may be transferred to the PPF such that, among other things, the PPF will become the Secured Party for the purposes of this Deed.
- (D) This document is the deed of the Chargor, even if it has not been duly executed by the Secured Party or has been executed by the Secured Party but not as a deed.

#### This deed witnesses

1 Definitions and interpretation

In this Deed:

#### 1.1 Definitions

"Account" means a Current Account or a Controlled Account.

"Account Bank" means in respect of any Account, the bank or financial institution with which that Account is held.

"Act" means the Law of Property Act 1925.

"Administrator" means any administrator appointed under this Deed to manage the affairs, business and assets of the Chargor.

Man\_Docs\54216985.2 Page 4

"Assessment Period" means an assessment period for the purposes of section 132 of the Pensions Act.

"Assumptions" has the meaning set out in Clause 1.4 (PPF).

"Authorisations" means authorisations, consents, approvals, resolutions, licences, exemptions, filings, notarisations or registrations and "Authorisation" shall be interpreted accordingly.

"Book Debts" means, in relation to the Chargor, all of its book debts or other debt, revenue or claim.

"Business Day" means a day (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open for general business in London.

"Business Plan" means any budget and business plan for the Chargor from time to time.

"Controlled Accounts" means each of the following bank accounts in the name of the Chargor or to which it is beneficially entitled:

(a) [None].

"Controlled Debt" means any debt or moneys due or owing to the Chargor, the proceeds of which, once received by that Chargor, are or will be Controlled Proceeds.

"Controlled Proceeds" means any proceeds or other moneys received by the Chargor from time to time which, under the terms of any arrangements with the Secured Party, that Chargor must either:

- (a) apply in repayment or prepayment of the Secured Liabilities;
- (b) pay into a Controlled Account; or
- (c) which the debtor is instructed to pay directly into any of the Controlled Accounts.

## "Current Account" means:

- (a) each account of the Chargor set out in Schedule 3 (Current Accounts);
- (b) any other account which the Chargor holds with any bank or financial institution from time to time other than a Controlled Account.

"CVA" means the company voluntary arrangement between the Chargor and the CVA Creditors (as defined in the Proposals) under Part 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 and approved by the CVA Creditors on 23 March 2021.

"CVA Compromise Amount" means the sum of £343,802 to be paid by or on behalf of the Chargor to the Original Secured Party under and in terms of the CVA.

"CVA Creditors" shall have the meaning ascribed to "CVA Creditors" in the Proposals.

"Default" means:

- (a) the occurrence of an Event of Default under, and as defined in, the Loan Notes Instrument;
- (b) (unless otherwise agreed in writing in advance with the Secured Party) the Chargor defaults in the payment when due of any amount due under this Deed unless such non-payment is as a result of an administrative or technical error and the payment is made within three days of its due date;
- (c) the Chargor does not comply with or breaches any provision of a Transaction Document;
- (d) any material representation made or deemed to be made by the Chargor in the Transaction Documents is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading when made or deemed to be made;
- (e) it is or becomes unlawful for the Chargor to perform any of its obligations under any Transaction Documents to which it is party unless such unlawfulness, if capable of remedy, is remedied within ten Business Days of the Chargor becoming aware of its occurrence; or
- (f) the Chargor repudiates, or evidences an Intention to repudiate, a Transaction Document to which it is party.

"**Default Rate**" means the rate of interest specified in, and calculated in accordance with, Clause 4 (*Interest*) of the Loan Notes Instrument.

"Delegate" means any delegate, agent, attorney or co-trustee appointed by the Secured Party or a Receiver.

## "Deposit" means:

- (g) all amounts standing to the credit of each Controlled Account from time to time; and
- (h) all sums standing to the credit of any Current Account from time to time.

"Distribution Matching Agreement" means the agreement dated on or around the date hereof among the Chargor, the Original Secured Party and the PPF.

#### "Distribution Rights" means:

- (a) all dividends, interest and other distributions paid or payable on or in respect of any Investments or Shares and any right to receive them; and
- (b) any right arising or accruing by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus, preference, option or other right relating to the relevant Investment or Share.

"Eligible Scheme" means an eligible scheme for the purposes of section 126 of the Pensions Act.

"Employer" means an employer for the purposes of section 318 of the Pensions Act.

"Equipment" means, in relation to the Chargor, all its fixed and moveable plant, machinery, tools, vehicles, computers and office and other equipment and the benefit of all related Authorisations, agreements and warranties.

"Group" means the Chargor and its Subsidiaries for the time being and "Group Company" means any of them.

"Insolvency Event" in relation to a person includes the dissolution, bankruptcy, sequestration, insolvency, winding-up, liquidation, administration, examination, amalgamation, reconstruction, reorganisation, arrangement, adjustment, administrative or other receivership or dissolution of that person, the official management of all of its revenues or other assets or the seeking of protection or relief from debtors and any equivalent or analogous proceeding, whatever it is called, in any jurisdiction.

"Insurance" means, in relation to the Chargor, each contract or policy or insurance to which it is a party or in which it has an interest.

## "Intellectual Property Rights" means

- (c) all patents, trade marks, trade names, domain names, service marks, software rights, designs, business names, copyrights, design rights, moral rights, topography rights in databases, inventions, confidential information, trade secrets, know-how and other intellectual property rights and interests, whether registered, registrable or unregistered (and including registrations and applications for registration of any of these and rights to apply for the same);
- (d) the benefit of all applications and rights to use such assets of the Chargor (which may now or in the future subsist); and
- (e) all rights and forms of protection of a similar nature or having equivalent or similar effect to any of the foregoing anywhere in the world.

# "Investments" means, in relation to the Chargor:

- (f) all or any of its stocks, shares (including any Shares), bonds and securities of any kind (marketable or otherwise), negotiable instruments and warrants and any other financial instruments (as defined in the Regulations) and all its rights against any nominee or other trustee, fiduciary, custodian or clearing system with respect to any Investments; and
- (g) all allotments, accretions, offers, options, rights, bonuses, benefits and advantages, whether by way of conversion, redemption, preference, option or otherwise which at any time accrue to or are offered or arise in respect of them,

and includes all Distribution Rights.

"Lease" means any lease, tenancy, licence, sub-lease, sub-licence or other occupational right in respect of any property.

"Loan Notes" means the £691,002 nil rate secured loan notes due 2030 and issued by the Chargor to the Original Secured Party pursuant to the Loan Notes Instrument on or around the date of this Deed.

"Loan Notes Instrument" means the instrument of the Chargor dated on or around the date of this Deed under which the Loan Notes are constituted.

"Party" means a party to this Deed and "Parties" means all of them.

"Pension Scheme" means The Scottish Council for Development and Industry Pension Fund, established by an Interim Trust Deed dated 12 August 1969 and currently governed by Rules adopted pursuant to a resolution of its then trustees made on 15 February 1995 (as subsequently amended from time to time).

"Pensions Act" means the Pensions Act 2004 and its underlying regulations.

"Pensions Regulator" means the UK Pensions Regulator, a body corporate established pursuant to the Part I of the Pensions Act.

"PPF Creditor Rights" means the rights and powers in relation to the debts owed to the Original Secured Party which pass to the PPF by virtue of section 137 and/or section 161 of the Pensions Act.

"**Proposals**" means the proposals of the directors of the Chargor for the CVA which were approved by the directors of the Chargor on 3 March 2021.

"Qualifying Insolvency" means an insolvency event under section 121 of the Pensions Act which is a qualifying insolvency event for the purposes of section 127 of the Pensions Act.

"Receiver" means a receiver appointed in respect of the Security Assets whether pursuant to this Deed or to any applicable law, by a Court or otherwise, whether alone or jointly, and includes a receiver and/or manager and, if the Secured Party is permitted by law to appoint an administrative receiver, includes an administrative receiver (and in each case any substitute of any of them appointed from time to time).

"Regulations" means the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No 2) Regulations 2003 (S.I. 2003/3226) as amended by:

- (a) Financial Collateral Arrangements (No 2) Regulations 2003 (Amendment)
  Regulations 2009 SI 2009/2464; and
- (b) the Financial Markets and Insolvency (Settlement Finality and Financial Collateral Arrangements) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 SI 2010/2993,

or equivalent legislation in any applicable jurisdiction bringing into effect Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral arrangements and "Regulation" means any of them.

"Scottish Floating Charge" means the Scots law bond and floating charge granted by the Chargor to the Secured Party on or around the date of this Deed.

"Scottish Government IP Assignment" means the assignation of its intellectual property rights granted by the Chargor in favour of the Scottish Ministers under or pursuant to the offer of grant entered into between the Chargor and the Scottish Ministers dated 11 March 2021.

"Secured Liabilities" means (a) the liabilities of the Chargor to the Secured Party under or pursuant to the Transaction Documents, whether present or future, actual or contingent and whether incurred solely or jointly and whether as principal or surety or in some other capacity (but excluding any money, obligation or liability which would cause the covenant set out in Clause 2 (Covenant to Pay) or the Security which would otherwise be constituted by this Deed to be unlawful or prohibited by any applicable law or regulation) and (b) the CVA Compromise Amount.

"Secured Party" means the Original Secured Party and any person to which the interests of the Original Secured Party under the Transaction Documents may be transferred or assigned from time to time, in each case in accordance with the Transaction Documents and/or the Pensions Act and any Receiver or any Delegate.

"Security" means a mortgage, standard security, charge, pledge, lien, assignment by way of security, assignation by way of security. retention of title provision, trust or flawed asset arrangement (for the purpose of, or which has the effect of, granting security) or other security interest securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement in any jurisdiction having a similar effect.

"Security Assets" means, in relation to the Chargor, all of its assets which are the subject of any Security created or to be created by this Deed.

"Security Period" means the period starting on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which the Secured Party is satisfied that all of the Secured Liabilities have been irrevocably discharged in full (save that in relation to the Distribution Matching Agreement, this period shall mean the period starting on the date of delivery of this Deed and ending on the date on which the Secured Party is satisfied that any financial liabilities that have accrued and are payable by the Chargor to the Secured Party under Clause 2.2 of the Distribution Matching Agreement up to and including the date on which all other Secured Liabilities, other than under the Distribution Matching Agreement, have been irrevocably discharged, have been paid in full) and the Chargor has no commitment or liability, whether present or future, actual or contingent, under or in relation to any Transaction Document (other than under or in relation to the Distribution Matching Agreement, under which, for the avoidance of doubt, the Company will have obligations and liabilities remaining beyond the Security Period and for the period of time provided for therein).

"Shares" means all shares held by the Chargor in its Subsidiaries or held by a nominee on behalf of the Chargor.

"Subsidiary" means a subsidiary undertaking within the meaning of section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006.

"Tax" means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same).

"Transaction Documents" means the Loan Notes, the Loan Notes Instrument, the Distribution Matching Agreement, the Scottish Floating Charge and this Deed, and "Transaction Document" means any of them.

#### 1.2 Construction

- 1.2.1 In this Deed (unless otherwise provided), any reference to:
  - (a) "assets" includes present, future, actual and contingent properties, revenues and rights of every description. Any reference to an asset includes any proceeds of disposal of all or part of that asset and any other monies paid or payable in respect of that asset and any reference to a particular type or category of assets includes any present or future assets of that type or category;
  - (b) a "disposal" includes any lease, licence, transfer, sale, declaration of trust or other disposal of any kind whether voluntary or involuntary (with related words being construed accordingly);
  - (c) a "guarantee" means any guarantee, letter of credit, bond, indemnity, documentary or other credit or similar assurance against loss, or any obligation, direct or indirect, actual or contingent, to purchase or assume any indebtedness of any person or to make an investment in or loan to any person or to purchase assets of any person where, in each case, such obligation is assumed in order to maintain or assist the ability of such person to meet its indebtedness;
  - (d) "debt" or "indebtedness" includes any obligation, whether incurred as principal or as surety, for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent and whether owed jointly or severally or in any other capacity;
  - (e) a "regulation" includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or of any regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation;
  - (f) a time of day is a reference to London time;
  - (g) "liabilities" includes any obligation whether incurred as principal or as surety, whether or not in respect of indebtedness, whether present or future, actual or contingent and whether owed jointly or severally or in any other capacity;
  - (h) references to "Clauses" and "Schedules" are to be construed as references to the Clauses of, and Schedules to, this Deed as amended or varied from time to time;
  - (i) references to this "Deed" or to any other document mentioned in it shall be construed as references to this Deed or such document, as amended, varied, novated or supplemented, as the case may be,

- from time to time however fundamental that amendment, variation, novation or supplement may be;
- (j) the "Chargor", a "Secured Party", the "PPF", a "Receiver" or a "Delegate" includes any one or more of its assignees, transferees and successors in title (in the case of the Chargor and the Original Secured Party, so far as any such is permitted);
- (k) a "Secured Party", the "PPF", any "Receiver" or any "Delegate" (except for the references in Clause 14 (Power of Attorney)) includes its duly appointed nominees, attorneys, correspondents, trustees, advisers, agents, delegates and sub-delegates;
- (I) words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa;
- (m) a "person" shall include that person's assignees or transferees or successors in title and shall be construed as including an individual, firm, partnership, consortium, joint venture, company, corporation, unincorporated body of persons or any state or any agency of any such state;
- (n) a "right" includes any title, estate, interest, claim, remedy, power, authority, discretion or other right of any kind, both present and future. Any reference to the Chargor's rights in any document or asset (or any type or category of documents or assets) includes any rights that it holds from time to time in, to, under, in respect of or derived from that document or asset (or any document or asset of that type or in that category);
- (o) references to any statute or statutory provision include any statute or statutory provision which amends, extends, modifies, consolidates or replaces the same, or which has been amended, extended, modified, consolidated or replaced by the same, and shall include any orders, regulations, instruments or other subordinate legislation made under the relevant statute;
- (p) a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted;
- (q) the words "other" and "otherwise" shall not be construed ejusdem generis with any foregoing words where a wider construction is possible;
  - (r) "this Security" means the Security constituted by or pursuant to this Deed; and
  - (s) the words "including" and in "particular" shall be construed as being by way of illustration or emphasis only and shall not be construed as, nor shall they take effect as, limiting the generality of any foregoing words.
- 1.2.2 Clause headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction of this Deed.

#### 1.3 Third party rights

- 1.3.1 A Secured Party, the PPF (if not a Secured Party), any Receiver, any Delegate and their respective officers, employees and agents may enforce any term of this Deed which purports to confer a benefit on that person, but no other person who is not a Party has any right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce or to enjoy the benefit of any term of this Deed.
- 1.3.2 Notwithstanding any term of any Transaction Document, a Secured Party and any Receiver or Delegate may rescind, vary, waive, release, assign, novate or otherwise dispose of all or any of their respective rights or obligations under this Deed without the consent of any person who is not a party to this Deed.

## 1.4 PPF

- 1.4.1 This Deed is being provided in the context of the restructuring of the Chargor pursuant to the CVA involving, among others, the PPF (which is entering into this Deed pursuant to section 137 of the Pensions Act (and all other powers empowering it)); and the Parties acknowledge that the PPF has made the following assumptions (the "Assumptions") in the context of that involvement:
  - (a) the Pension Scheme is an Eligible Scheme; and
  - (b) on or before the date of this Deed a Qualifying Insolvency has occurred in relation to every Employer in relation to the Pension Scheme triggering an Assessment Period and the PPF Creditor Rights in relation to the whole of the Pension Scheme.

## 1.4.2 The Parties further acknowledge that:

- (a) the PPF has made the Assumptions without having made any enquiries in relation to the Assumptions, and without passing any opinion on or acknowledging whether or not the Assumptions (or any of them) are true or correct; and
- (b) nothing in this Deed, any other Transaction Document, or otherwise shall be construed so as to create any obligation on the PPF to confirm that an Assessment Period has commenced or to assume responsibility for the Pension Scheme or any part of it.
- 1,4.3 The Parties (other than the PPF) agree that, if an Assessment Period commences in relation to the Pension Scheme (or any part of it), then unless and until:
  - (a) the PPF ceases to be involved with the Pension Scheme pursuant to section 149 of the Pensions Act; or
  - (b) subsection 154(1) of the Pensions Act applies to the Pension Scheme,

the PPF may exercise any of the rights or powers of the Original Secured Party under this Deed, any other Transaction Document, or otherwise.

#### 1.5 Effect as a deed

This Deed shall take effect as a deed even if it is signed under hand on behalf of the Original Secured Party and the PPF.

#### 1.6 PPF Consents

Subject to Clause 8.7 (*Consents*), at all times when either the Pension Scheme is subject to an Assessment Period, or the PPF has assumed responsibility for the Pension Scheme:

- 1.6.1 the Original Secured Party shall not exercise any rights that it has under this Deed, including (without limitation) under:
  - (a) Clause 5 (Conversion of floating charge);
  - (b) Clause 9 (Voting and other rights); and/or
  - (c) Clause 10 (Enforcement)

without the prior written consent of the PPF (or any assignee or transferee of the PPF); and

1.6.2 the Original Secured Party shall promptly act in accordance with the instructions of the PPF (or any assignee or transferee of the PPF).

## 1.7 Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1989

The terms of the other Transaction Documents and of any side letters between any parties in relation to any Transaction Document are incorporated in this Deed to the extent required to ensure that any purported disposition of an interest in land contained in this Deed is a valid disposition in accordance with section 2(1) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1989.

#### 2 Covenant to pay

The Chargor covenants with the Secured Party that it will on demand pay and discharge (or procure the payment and discharge of) the Secured Liabilities when due.

#### 3 Creation of Security

## 3.1 Land

The Chargor charges:

3.1.1 by way of legal mortgage its interest in all estates or interests in any land owned by it and any buildings, Equipment and other fixtures and fittings on such land referred to opposite its name in Schedule 1 (Land charged by way of legal mortgage);

- 3.1.2 to the extent not subject to the charge by way of legal mortgage under Clause 3.1.1, by way of fixed charge any estates or interests which it has now or may subsequently acquire to or in any other land and any buildings, Equipment, and other fixtures and fittings on such land;
- 3.1.3 by way of fixed charge the proceeds of sale of any land so charged by way of legal mortgage or charged by a fixed charge;
- 3.1.4 by way of fixed charge the benefit of any agreements, covenants, covenants of title, restrictions, licences, instruments or rights in relation to any land so charged by way of legal mortgage or charged by a fixed charge and any rights to sums arising or money paid in relation to any of them; and
- 3.1.5 by way of fixed charge all sums arising by way of rental income in relation to any land so charged by way of legal mortgage or charged by a fixed charge.

#### 3.2 Shares

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge:

- 3.2.1 all Shares; and
- 3.2.2 all related Distribution Rights,

including those held for it by a nominee.

## 3.3 Investments

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge:

- 3.3.1 all Investments; and
- 3.3.2 all related Distribution Rights,

including those held for it by any nominee.

#### 3.4 Equipment

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all Equipment in so far as it is not charged by way of legal mortgage or fixed charge under Clause 3.1 (Land).

## 3.5 Controlled Debts

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge:

- 3.5.1 all Controlled Debts; and
- 3.5.2 all rights, guarantees, Security or other collateral of any nature and the benefit of any judgement or order for payment in each case in relation to any Controlled Debts.

## 3.6 Controlled Accounts

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all amounts standing to the credit of each Controlled Account and all of its right, title and interest in and relating to each

such Controlled Account and the Deposit and rights to the Deposit in each Controlled Account.

#### 3.7 Book Debts

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge:

- 3.7.1 all of its Book Debts, and other debts arising and due to it and their proceeds whether collected or uncollected; and
- 3.7.2 all rights, guarantees, Security or other collateral of any nature, and the benefit of any judgment or order for payment in each case in relation to any Book Debt or other debts subject to the Security in Clause 3.7.1.

## 3.8 Intellectual Property Rights

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all its Intellectual Property Rights.

#### 3.9 Goodwill

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge its goodwill.

## 3.10 Uncalled capital

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge its uncalled capital.

#### 3.11 Authorisations

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge the benefit of all Authorisations held by it in relation to any Security Asset.

## 3.12 Insurances

- 3.12.1 The Chargor assigns absolutely all its rights and interests in the Insurances and rights to the proceeds of any Insurances.
- 3.12.2 Until a Default occurs, but subject to Clause 7.6 (*Insurances*) the Chargor may continue to deal with the counterparties to the Insurances.

## 3.13 Contractual Rights

The Chargor charges by way of fixed charge all its rights under all deeds and agreements to which it is a party and which are not mortgaged, charged by way of fixed charge or assigned under any of Clause 3.1 (*Land*) to 3.12 (*Insurances*) (inclusive).

## 3.14 Other assets

- 3.14.1 The Chargor charges by way of floating charge all its present and future business, undertaking and assets including, without limitation, all its present and future business, undertaking and assets located in Scotland or otherwise governed by Scots law.
- 3.14.2 Paragraph 14 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 shall apply to any floating charge created by this Deed.

#### 3.15 Trust

- 3.15.1 Subject to Clause 3.15.2, if or to the extent that for any reason the assignment or charging of any Security Asset is prohibited, the Chargor holds it on trust for the Secured Party.
- 3.15.2 If the reason referred to in Clause 3.15.1 is that:
  - (a) a consent or waiver must be obtained; or
  - (b) a condition must be satisfied,

then:

- (c) subject to Clause 3.15.3, the Chargor shall apply for the consent or waiver; and
- (d) the Chargor shall use all reasonable endeavours to satisfy the condition,

in each case within 14 days of the date of this Deed or, if the Security Asset is acquired after the date of this Deed, within 14 days of the date of acquisition.

- 3.15.3 Where the consent or walver is not to be unreasonably withheld, the Chargor shall:
  - (a) use all reasonable endeavours to obtain it as soon as possible; and
  - (b) keep the Secured Party informed of the progress of the negotiations to obtain it.
- 3.15.4 On the waiver or consent being obtained, or the condition being satisfied, the Security Asset shall be mortgaged, charged or assigned (as appropriate) under this Clause 3 and, in relation to such Security Asset, the trust referred to in Clause 3.15.1 shall terminate. The Chargor shall do any act or execute such document, notice, deed or agreement required to grant a charge by way of legal mortgage, fixed charge or equitable or legal assignment in favour of the Secured Party in relation to the Security Asset.

## 4 Nature of Security created

### 4.1 General

- 4.1.1 The Security created under this Deed is created:
  - (a) and shall remain in force as, a continuing security for the Secured Liabilities, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge, unless and until it is released and discharged in writing by the Secured Party;
  - (b) (except in the case of assets which are the subject of a legal mortgage under this Deed) over all present and future assets of the kind described which are owned by the Chargor and, to the extent

that it does not own those assets, shall extend to any right or interest which it may have in them;

- (c) in favour of the Secured Party; and
- (d) with full title guarantee (except that the covenant set out in section 3(1) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994 shall extend to all charges, encumbrances and rights, even if the Chargor does not know and could not reasonably be expected to know about them) in respect of those rights and assets situated in England and/or otherwise governed by English law.
- 4.1.2 Each fixed charge created under this Deed over rights in any chattels takes effect as an equitable mortgage.
- 4.1.3 Each assignment under this Deed is subject to a proviso for re-assignment on redemption in accordance with Clause 16 (*Discharge of Security*).
- 4.1.4 This Security is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by, and shall not merge with, any other guarantee, contractual right or Security now or in the future held by, or available to, the Secured Party.

## 5 Conversion of floating charge

## 5.1 Conversion on notice

Subject to Clause 5.2 (*Limitation*), the Secured Party may by notice to the Chargor at any time during the Security Period convert the floating charge created by the Chargor under this Deed into a fixed charge in respect of any Security Asset specified in that notice if:

- 5.1.1 a Default is continuing;
- 5.1.2 the Secured Party considers that Security Asset to be in danger of being seized, attached, charged, taken possession of or sold under any form of distress, sequestration, execution or other process or otherwise to be in jeopardy; or
- 5.1.3 the Secured Party considers that it is desirable to protect the priority of the Security created by this Deed.

## 5.2 Limitation

Clause 5.1 (Conversion on notice) shall not apply by reason only of a moratorium being obtained, or anything being done with a view to a moratorium being obtained, under section 1A of the Insolvency Act 1986.

## 5.3 Automatic conversion

The floating charge created by the Chargor under this Deed will convert automatically into fixed charges over all assets subject to the floating charge:

5.3.1 if the Secured Party receives notice of an intention to appoint an administrator of the Chargor;

- 5.3.2 if any steps are taken (including the presentation of a petition, the passing of a resolution or the making of an application) to appoint a liquidator, provisional liquidator, administrator or Receiver in respect of the Chargor over all or any part of its assets, or if such person is appointed;
- 5.3.3 if the Chargor creates or attempts to create Security over all or any of the Security Assets, other than as agreed in writing by the Secured Party;
- 5.3.4 on the crystallisation of any other floating charge over any Security Assets;
- 5.3.5 if any person seizes, attaches, charges, takes possession of or sells any Security Asset under any form of distress, sequestration, execution or other process, or attempts to do so; and
- 5.3.6 in any other circumstances prescribed by law.

## 5.4 Scottish assets

The provisions of Clause 5.1 (Conversion on notice) and Clause 5.3 (Automatic conversion) shall not apply to any property, assets or rights situated in Scotland or otherwise governed by Scots law if and to the extent that a Receiver would not be capable of exercising his powers in Scotland pursuant to s72 of the Insolvency Act 1986.

## 6 Representations and warranties

## 6.1 General

The Secured Party has entered into this Deed in reliance on the representations of the Chargor set out in this Clause 6, and the Chargor warrants to the Secured Party on the date of this Deed and to any subsequent Secured Party on the date of any transfer of the rights under this Deed to that Secured Party in each case, in respect of itself, as set out in this Clause 6.

#### 6.2 Status

- 6.2.1 It is a private company limited by guarantee, duly incorporated and validly existing under the law of its jurisdiction of incorporation.
- 6.2.2 It has the power to own its assets and carry on its business as it is being conducted.

## 6.3 Binding obligations and security

- 6.3.1 The obligations expressed to be assumed by it in the Transaction Documents are legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations.
- 6.3.2 This Deed creates the Security which it purports to create and that Security is valid and effective save that no warranty is given in relation to the validity or effectiveness of any legal or equitable mortgage, fixed charge or assignment in security contained in this Deed so far as relating to any property, assets or rights situated in Scotland or otherwise governed by Scots law.

## 6.4 Non-conflict with other obligations

The entry into and performance by it of, and the transactions contemplated by, the Transaction Documents to which it is party do not and will not conflict with:

- 6.4.1 any law or regulation applicable to it;
- 6.4.2 its constitutional documents; or
- 6.4.3 any agreement or other document binding upon it or any of its assets or constitute a default or termination event (however described) under any such agreement or other document.

## 6.5 Power and authority

- 6.5.1 It has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise its entry into, performance and delivery of, the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the transactions contemplated by those Transaction Documents.
- 6.5.2 No limit on its powers will be exceeded as a result of the borrowing, grant of security or giving of guarantees or indemnities contemplated by the Transaction Documents to which it is a party.

## 6.6 Validity and admissibility in evidence

All Authorisations required:

- 6.6.1 to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and comply with its obligations in the Transaction Documents to which it is a party; and
- 6.6.2 to make the Transaction Documents to which it is a party admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation,

have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect.

#### 6.7 No filing or stamp taxes

Under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, it is not necessary that the Transaction Documents be filed, recorded or enrolled with any court or other authority in that jurisdiction or that any stamp, registration, notarial or similar Taxes or fees be paid on or in relation to the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents except registration of particulars of this Deed and the Scottish Floating Charge at Companies House in Scotland under section 859A of the Companies Act 2006 and payment of associated fees which registrations and fees will be made and paid promptly after the date of this Deed.

## 6.8 Governing law and enforcement

6.8.1 The choice of Scots law or English law (as the case may be) as the governing law of any of the Transaction Documents (as relevant to each Transaction Document) will be recognised and enforced in its jurisdiction of incorporation.

6.8.2 Any judgment obtained in Scotland or in England in relation to a Transaction Document will be recognised and enforced in its jurisdiction of incorporation.

## 6.9 Ranking

This Security has or will have the ranking in priority which it is expressed to have and it is not subject to any prior ranking or *pari passu* ranking Security (other than (i) Security granted in favour of the Secured Party and (ii) the Scottish Government IP Assignment).

#### 6.10 Security Assets

It is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the respective assets over which it purports to grant Security in this Deed, free from any other Security (other than (i) Security granted in favour of the Secured Party and (ii) the Scottish Government IP Assignment).

## 6.11 Group Companies

There are no Group Companies as at the date of this Deed.

#### 6.12 Insurances

- 6.12.1 All premiums and other moneys payable in respect of each Insurance have been duly and promptly paid in full.
- 6.12.2 Each Insurance is in full force and effect.
- 6.12.3 It has not made any false declaration or misstatement in support of obtaining any Insurance
- 6.12.4 It has disclosed in writing to the insurers of each Insurance all material facts.

#### 6.13 Accounts

As at the date of this Deed, the Chargor does not hold any account with a bank or financial institution other than:

- 6.13.1 the Controlled Accounts (if any); and
- 6.13.2 the Current Accounts set out in Schedule 3 (Current Accounts).

#### 6.14 Land

All land beneficially owned by it and situated in England and Wales as at the date of this Deed is described opposite its name in Schedule 1 (Land charged by way of legal mortgage).

## 6.15 Shares

6.15.1 All Shares beneficially owned by it in respect of companies incorporated in England and Wales as at the date of this Deed are described opposite its name in Schedule 2 (Shares).

- 6.15.2 All of the Shares and, to the extent applicable, all Investments are:
  - (a) fully paid;
  - (b) not subject to any option to purchase or similar rights; and
  - (c) freely transferable with no consents being required to the transfer or its registration.

## 6.16 Repetition

The representations and warranties set out in this Clause 6 shall survive the execution of this Deed and are deemed to be repeated by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing on each day during the Security Period in favour of the relevant Secured Party and to the PPF on the date of the PPF becoming the Secured Party under this Deed.

## 7 Positive covenants

The covenants in this Clause 7 remain in force from the date of this Deed until the end of the Security Period.

## 7.1 Preservation of the Security Assets

The Chargor shall:

- 7.1.1 keep all land and buildings, all Equipment and all other tangible assets which form part of the Security Assets in substantially the same or better condition as that in which it is on the date of this Deed (but taking into account ordinary wear and tear) and permit the Secured Party free access at all reasonable times and on reasonable notice to view their state and condition;
- 7.1.2 promptly renew and replace any obsolete, worn out or damaged Equipment or parts with items of a similar or better quality and of equal or greater value, but only to the extent required for the ongoing day-to-day business operations of the Chargor;
- 7.1.3 preserve, maintain and renew as and when necessary all Intellectual Property Rights which form part of the Security Assets and any related registrations;
- 7.1.4 observe and perform all covenants, undertakings, laws and regulations from time to time affecting any Security Asset or the use or enjoyment of it;
- 7.1.5 obtain, maintain and comply with the terms of any Authorisation required or desirable in connection with any Security Asset;
- 7.1.6 pay all Tax, rents, rates, duties, fees, charges, assessments, impositions, calls, instalments and outgoings which are properly payable at any time during the Security Period in respect of any Security Asset or by the owner or occupier of it (and otherwise if it fails to pay that amount when due, the Secured Party may pay it);

- 7.1.7 notify the Secured Party of any action or diligence commenced by a third party to seize, attach, arrest, inhibit, charge, take possession of or sell any Security Asset which (to the best of its knowledge and belief) has been started or threatened;
- 7.1.8 at its own cost, use its best endeavours to enforce any rights and institute, continue or defend any proceedings (including proceedings to seize, attach, charge, take possession of or sell) relating to any of the Security Assets;
- 7.1.9 if so requested by the Secured Party in relation to any item of Equipment, affix to, and maintain on, that item in a conspicuous position a plate bearing in clearly legible wording approved by the Secured Party a notification of the fixed charge created by this Deed over that item;
- 7.1.10 do all acts and things which may be necessary to preserve and maintain the subsistence and validity of its Intellectual Property Rights and any related registrations;
- 7.1.11 not without the prior written consent of the Secured Party make, permit or allow any alterations or additions of a material nature to any of its Security Assets (including without limitation the Chargor's interest under any Lease) or carry out any works of demolition on them; and
- 7.1.12 not without the prior written consent of the Secured Party, or as otherwise permitted under the terms of the Distribution Matching Agreement, make, permit or allow, or take any steps to propose or make, any distributions to be proposed or paid to the members of the Chargor.

#### 7.2 Land

- 7.2.1 The Chargor shall promptly notify the Secured Party in writing if it:
  - (a) intends to acquire any estate or interest in land; or
  - (b) acquires any estate or interest in land.
- 7.2.2 The Chargor shall remedy any material defect or want of repair promptly after service by the Secured Party of notice of the defect or want of repair.
- 7.2.3 The Chargor shall give immediate notice in writing to the Secured Party if:
  - (a) it receives any notice under section 146 of the Act; or
  - (b) any proceedings are commenced against it for the forfeiture of any lease of any land.
- 7.2.4 If the Chargor acquires any interest or estate in any land after the date of this Deed it shall:
  - (a) immediately on request by the Secured Party and at the cost of the Chargor, execute and deliver to the Secured Party a legal mortgage in favour of the Secured Party of that land in any form which the Secured Party may require;

- (b) if the title to that land is registered at the Land Registry or required to be so registered, apply to the Land Registry for registration of this Security; and
- (c) if applicable, ensure that the provisions of Clause 13.2 (Application to Land Registrar) are complied with in relation to that legal mortgage.
- 7.2.5 If the consent of the landlord in whom the reversion of a lease is vested is required for the Chargor to execute a legal mortgage over it, the Chargor shall:
  - (a) not be required to perform that obligation unless and until it has obtained the landlord's consent; and
  - (b) use all reasonable endeavours to obtain the landlord's consent.
- 7.2.6 The Chargor shall perform all its obligations under any law or regulation in any way related to or affecting its land, except to the extent that non-performance of those obligations would not materially adversely affect the value or marketability of any of its land.
- 7.2.7 Following a Default or, in respect of any land acquired after the date of this Deed, upon request by the Secured Party, the Chargor shall:
  - (a) grant the Secured Party or its lawyers on request all facilities within the power of the Chargor to enable the Secured Party or its lawyers (at the expense of the Chargor) to:
    - (i) carry out investigations of title to the land; and
    - (ii) make such enquiries in relation to any part of the land as a prudent mortgagee might carry out; and
  - (b) if reasonably required by the Secured Party, provide it with a report on title of the Chargor to the land concerning those items which may properly be sought to be covered by a prudent mortgagee in a lawyer's report of that nature.
- 7.2.8 The Chargor shall effect or procure the deposit with (or to the order of) the Secured Party of all title deeds and documents (including all local land charges, land charges, Land Registry search certificates and planning and other statutory consents) relating to the land forming part of the Security Assets.
- 7.2.9 On completion of the registration of this Deed against any Land Registry title comprised in the land forming part of the Security Assets, the Chargor shall supply the Secured Party with a copy of the title information document for that title.
- 7.2.10 If the Chargor receives any application, requirement, order or notice served or given by any public, local or other authority or any landlord with respect to land forming part of the Security Assets, then it shall:

- (a) within 14 days after such receipt deliver a copy to the Secured Party and inform it of the steps taken or proposed to be taken to comply with the relevant application, requirement, order or notice;
- (b) take all necessary steps to comply with the application, requirement, order or notice; and
- (c) make or join in making any representations which the Secured Party requests in respect of the application, requirement, order or notice.
- 7.2.11 Any compensation received as a result of an application, requirement, order or notice referred to in Clause 7.2.10, pursuant to s25 of the Act and/or the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 or otherwise, shall be held on trust for, and promptly paid to, the Secured Party. The Secured Party shall apply the compensation as if it constituted proceeds of an enforcement of this Deed.

#### 7.3 Accounts

- 7.3.1 If the Chargor opens or otherwise acquires any Account after the date of this Deed, it shall notify the Secured Party Immediately.
- 7.3.2 After executing this Deed (or in the case of any Account opened after the date of this Deed, after the date on which that Account is opened), the Chargor shall:
  - (a) in respect of its Controlled Accounts (if any), and if so requested by the Secured Party, promptly give notice to the Account Bank in the form set out in Part 1 of Schedule 4 (Forms of letter to and from Account Bank) and deliver to the Secured Party a certified copy of that notice;
  - (b) in respect of each of its Current Accounts (if any), and if so requested by the Secured Party, promptly give notice to the Account Bank in the form set out in Part 2 of Schedule 4 (Forms of letter to and from Account Bank) and deliver to the Secured Party a certified copy of that notice; and
  - (c) use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Account Bank acknowledges each notice served on it pursuant to Clauses 7.3.2(a) in the form set out in Part 3 of Schedule 4 (Forms of letter to and from the Account Bank) or other form approved by the Secured Party.
- 7.3.3 The Chargor may receive, withdraw or transfer any credit balance on any Current Account unless the Secured Party notifies it to the contrary at any time when a Default has occurred.
- 7.3.4 In addition to any rights of the Secured Party under the Transaction Documents, at any time after a Default has occurred, the Secured Party may:

- (a) apply any amount standing to the credit of Current Account or any amount it receives in respect of any such Account towards any amounts due and payable under the Transaction Documents; and
- (b) notify the Account Bank at which any Current Account is held that the Chargor's rights (or any of them) under Clause 7.3.3 cease to apply.

## 7.4 Shares and Investments

- 7.4.1 The Chargor shall duly and promptly pay (or ensure that there are paid) all calls, instalments or other monies which may from time to time become due in respect of any of its Shares and Investments, without deduction or set-off.
- 7.4.2 If the Chargor forms or acquires any Subsidiary after the date of this Deed, it shall notify the Secured Party immediately.
- 7.4.3 The Chargor shall (in the case of the Shares specified in Schedule 2 (Shares) and its Investments as at the date of this Deed) immediately after entering into this Deed or (in the case of any other Shares and Investments) on such later date on which any Shares or Investments are issued to or otherwise acquired by the Chargor, and if so requested by the Secured Party deposit with the Secured Party, in respect of or in connection with its Shares and Investments:
  - (a) all stock and share certificates and documents of or evidencing title;
  - (b) signed undated transfers, completed in blank and, if the Secured Party so requires, pre-stamped; and
  - (c) any other documents (including duly executed waivers of preemption and other rights) which the Secured Party may request from time to time to enable it (or its nominee) to:
    - (i) obtain legal title to (or otherwise be registered as the owner of) any Share or Investment; or
    - (ii) be in a position to exercise any rights under this Deed in respect of it,

all of which will be held by the Secured Party at the expense and risk of the Chargor.

- 7.4.4 The Secured Party may at any time have any of the Chargor's Shares or Investments registered in its name or in the name of a nominee specified by it acting on its behalf.
- 7.4.5 The Chargor shall:
  - (a) promptly following receipt, forward to the Secured Party copies of all notices, documents and other communications received in connection with the Shares and Investments;

- (b) promptly copy to the Secured Party, and comply with, all requests for information which is within its knowledge and which are made under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 or any similar provision contained in any articles of association or other constitutional document relating to any of its Shares and Investments; and
- (c) comply with all other conditions and obligations assumed by it in respect of any of the Shares and Investments where failure to so comply would adversely affect the interests of the Secured Party.

#### 7.5 Book Debts

The Chargor shall:

- 7.5.1 collect in and realise the Book Debts in the ordinary course of its business (which shall not extend to selling or assigning or in any other way factoring or discounting them unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Secured Party);
- 7.5.2 pay the proceeds of such Book Debts into its current account with the Account Bank or into any other account which the Secured Party may specify;
- 7.5.3 pay the proceeds of such Book Debts into a Controlled Account with the Account Bank or into any other account which the Secured Party may specify; and
- 7.5.4 pending payment under Clause 7.5.2 or Clause 7.5.3, hold such proceeds on trust for the Secured Party.

#### 7.6 Insurances

- 7.6.1 The Chargor shall:
  - (a) perform all its obligations under the Insurances in a diligent and timely manner;
  - (b) promptly after the execution of this Deed, or (as the case may be) promptly after the execution of any Insurance entered into after the date of this Deed, and if so requested by the Secured Party, give notice to the other parties to the Insurances substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of notice for Insurances) and deliver to the Secured Party a copy of each notice; and
  - (c) use all reasonable endeavours to procure that each party served with a notice under Clause 7.6.1(b) countersigns and returns it to the Secured Party within 14 days of the date of the relevant notice under that Clause.
  - 7.6.2 While no Default is continuing, the Chargor may exercise all its rights in respect of the Insurances (in each case to which it is a party) including receiving and exercising all rights relating to proceeds of those Insurances.

## 7.7 Insurances – Further provisions

- 7.7.1 The Chargor shall insure and at all times keep insured those of the Security Assets which are of an insurable nature against risks usually insured against by prudent companies carrying on businesses similar to those of the Chargor.
- 7.7.2 The Chargor shall effect each of its Insurances:
  - (a) with reputable and responsible insurers approved by the Secured Party;
  - (b) either in the name of the Chargor with the interest of the Secured Party noted on the Insurances, or, at the option of the Secured Party, in the joint names of the Chargor and the Secured Party; and
  - (c) on such terms as the Secured Party may from time to time require.
- 7.7.3 The Chargor shall in respect of each of its Insurances:
  - (a) comply with its terms and not do or permit to be done anything which may make it void or voidable;
  - (b) duly and promptly pay all premiums and other monies necessary to effect and maintain it and provide evidence of payment to the Secured Party; and
  - (c) as requested by the Secured Party from time to time, deliver to the Secured Party (or provide to the Secured Party and/or its representatives or agents for inspection) the contract or policy (or, if so requested, a copy or extract of it).
- 7.7.4 If the Chargor fails to comply with any of its obligations as to insurance, the Secured Party may, but shall not be required to, take out, renew or maintain the relevant insurance on the terms, in the name(s) and in the amount(s) which it considers appropriate.
- 7.7.5 Until a Default occurs the Secured Party agrees that any proceeds payable under the Insurances may be received by the Chargor.
- 7.7.6 Until a Default occurs the Secured Party agrees that any proceeds received under the Insurances shall (subject to the payment of any third party claims) be applied by the Chargor (and the Chargor agrees to apply them):
  - (a) towards replacement or repair of the Security Asset the subject of the relevant claim under the Insurances; or
  - (b) if that replacement or repair of the Security Asset is not possible, towards reduction of the Secured Liabilities.
- 7.7.7 After a Default occurs any proceeds received under the Insurances shall be applied towards reduction of the Secured Liabilities or be paid into a Controlled Account as directed by the Secured Party.

## 7.8 Payments without deduction

The Chargor covenants with the Secured Party that all payments to be made by it under this Deed shall be calculated and be made without (and free and clear of any deduction for) set-off or counterclaim.

## 7.9 Deposit of documents, information, access and remedy

- 7.9.1 The Chargor covenants that, on the date of this Deed and at all times during the Security Period as soon as it receives them (but only if the Secured Party so requests), it shall deposit with the Secured Party, in respect of or in connection with the Security Assets:
  - (a) all deeds, title documents, certificates and other documents of or evidencing title; and
  - (b) any other documents which the Secured Party may from time to time reasonably require for perfecting its title, or the title of any purchaser,

all of which will be held by the Secured Party at the expense and risk of the Chargor.

- 7.9.2 The Chargor shall promptly deliver to the Secured Party:
  - (a) any copy document or other information which the Secured Party may request relating to its business or any Security Asset; and
  - (b) any evidence which the Secured Party may request of its compliance with the terms of this Deed.
- 7.9.3 The Chargor shall permit the Secured Party and/or its representatives, agents or contractors free access at all reasonable times to the Security Assets and any books, accounts and records relating to them:
  - (a) to examine the state and condition of those assets;
  - (b) to inspect and take copies and extracts from those books, accounts and records; and
  - (c) to comply with or object to any direction or notice or other matter served on it.
  - 7.9.4 The Secured Party may take any action (including the carrying out of repairs, the provision of information or the payment of money) which it considers necessary or desirable to remedy any failure by the Chargor to comply with any of its obligations under this Deed.
- 7,9.5 The Secured Party shall have no obligation to exercise any of its rights under Clause 7,9.4 or otherwise in relation to any Security Asset.

#### 7.10 Books and records

7.10.1 The Chargor shall: (a) at all times keep true, accurate and up-to-date books and records of all its affairs of the Chargor; and (b) during normal business hours make available to the Secured Party and their duly authorised representatives full and complete access (including copying facilities) to the books, records, accounts, documents and premises of the Chargor free of charge.

## 7.11 Supply of Information

7.11.1 Without prejudice to Clause 7.10.1, the Chargor shall at its own cost prepare and send to the Secured Party: (a) promptly after the same become available, unaudited management accounts of the Chargor for each six month accounting period and each accounting period including details of its capital expenditure at such date in a form reasonably acceptable to the Secured Party; (b) promptly after the same become available, a copy of the Business Plan and any amendments thereof from time to time; (c) promptly after the same become available, annual accounts of the Chargor (to be prepared, save as required by law in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom, including IFRS (if applicable), and (if required by law) audited and certified by the auditors of the Chargor); and (d) all other information relating to the Chargor as the Secured Party may reasonably require (including any forecasts, budgets, business plans, board papers and minutes and any supporting documentation), and including in relation to material developments regarding the financial and business affairs of the Chargor and significant events (including any litigation, arbitration or mediation) the outcome of which will or is likely to affect the Chargor, and such information shall be supplied within 5 Business Days of it being requested.

#### 7.12 Authorisations

The Chargor shall maintain and comply with the terms of any Authorisations or laws or regulations affecting the operation of the business of the Chargor and as a not-for-profit company.

#### 8 Negative covenants

The covenants in this Clause 8 remain in force from the date of this Deed until the end of the Security Period.

## 8.1 Disposals

8.1.1 Save for any disposal permitted by this Deed or agreed in writing by the Secured Party, the Chargor shall not enter into a single transaction or a series of transactions (whether related or not), whether voluntary or involuntary and whether at the same time or over a period of time, to sell, lease, transfer, license, loan or otherwise dispose of any Security Asset, or enter into any agreement to make any such disposal.

- 8.1.2 Provided that no Default has occurred, the restrictions on disposals in Clause 8.1.1 do not apply to:
  - (a) a disposal in the ordinary course of the day to day trading activities of the Chargor of any Security Asset which, at the time of that disposal, is subject to the floating charge created by this Deed;
  - (b) a disposal of a Security Asset which, at the time of that disposal, is subject to the floating charge created by this Deed, for the purposes of replacement of such Security Asset on like-for-like terms; and
  - (c) a disposal of the investments and other securities held by the Chargor in its investment account with 7IM (account number).

## 8.2 Negative pledge

- 8.2.1 The Chargor shall not create or agree to create or permit to subsist or arise any Security over all or any part of the Security Assets except with the prior written consent of the Secured Party (and other than the Scottish Government IP Assignment).
- 8.2.2 If the Chargor creates, agrees to create, incurs, assumes or permits to subsist any Security in breach of this Clause 8.2 then this Deed shall rank in priority to any such Security.

## 8.3 Preservation of the Security Assets

The Chargor shall not, without the prior written consent of the Secured Party:

- 8.3.1 enter into any onerous obligation or restriction affecting any Security Asset;
- 8.3.2 (subject to Clause 8.5 below) in relation to the Chargor's rights under any land or Lease forming part of the Security Assets:
  - part with possession of it, confer on any other person any right or licence to occupy it or grant any licence to assign, sub-let or create any Security over it;
  - (b) surrender any Lease or forfeit, determine or agree to the determination, surrender or termination of any Lease;
  - (c) grant or agree to grant any sub Lease or agree to any amendment of, or to any waiver of rights under any Lease;
  - (d) agree any rent review;
  - (e) make any structural or material alteration to the land and buildings (including any land and buildings the subject of any Lease), or do or allow anything to be done which falls within the definition of development in Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990;

- (f) sever, unfix or remove any of the fixtures or other plant and machinery (excluding stock-in-trade or work-in-progress) from any of the land and buildings (including any land and buildings subject to any Lease) which forms part of the Security Assets (except in order to effect necessary repairs or the replacement of the relevant asset with a new or improved model or substitute);
- (g) make (or permit anybody else to make) any application for planning permission in respect of any owned land which forms part of the Security Assets;
- (h) permit any other person to be registered at the Land Registry as proprietor of any of such land (or of any interest in it);
- (i) allow any person other than itself to be registered under the Land Registration Act 2002 as proprietor, or create or permit to arise any interest which overrides under the Land Registration Act 2002 (and the Chargor shall reimburse the Secured Party for its costs of lodging:
  - a caution against first registration of the title to that land;
     or
  - (ii) if that land is unregistered, a land charge); or
- make an application, consent to or acquiesce in the application by any third party, to the Land Registry to enter any matter on the register of title;
- 8.3.3 in relation to any uncalled capital of the Chargor, call it up or receive it in advance of calls unless the Secured Party otherwise directs, nor apply it, when paid, otherwise than in payment of the Secured Liabilities or as the Secured Party otherwise directs;
- 8.3.4 take any Security in connection with its liability under this Deed from any quarantor of, or provider of Security for, any of the Secured Liabilities; or
- 8.3.5 do, permit or allow to be done anything which might in any way depreciate, jeopardise or otherwise prejudice the Security held by the Secured Party or the value of any of the Security Assets and shall immediately inform the Secured Party of anything which occurs which might have the effect referred to in this Clause 8.3.5.

## 8.4 Acquisitions

Subject to Clause 8.5 below, the Chargor shall not acquire an interest in any freehold, heritable or leasehold property without the prior written consent of the Secured Party.

8.5 The restrictions in Clause 8.3.2 above shall not apply to the expiry, termination, renewal or extension of the Chargor's current Lease of the property at 1 Cadogan Square, Glasgow and dated 28 July 2011 (the "Cadogan Lease") provided that any

renewal or extension of the Cadogan Lease is made on terms substantially the same as or on less onerous terms than the existing Cadogan Lease.

## 8.6 Accounting reference date

The Chargor shall not, without the prior written consent of the Secured Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), change its accounting reference date from 30 September.

#### 8.7 Consents

For the purposes of this Clause 8, written consent of the Secured Party shall comprise:

- 8.7.1 before commencement of the Assessment Period, consent of the Original Secured Party only;
- 8.7.2 for the duration of the Assessment Period and at any time on and after the PPF has assumed responsibility for the Pension Scheme, consent of the PPF or any of its assignees or transferees.

## 9 Voting and other rights

#### 9.1 Before demand by the Secured Party

Until such time as the Secured Party makes a demand under Clause 9.2, the Chargor may exercise any of its voting and other rights and powers attached to the Shares and Investments but shall not do so in a manner which may:

- 9.1.1 have the effect of changing the terms of issue of any of the Shares or Investments (or any class of them) or any of the Distribution Rights relating to them;
- 9.1.2 impair the value of any of the Shares or Investments;
- 9.1.3 prejudice the Security or guarantees created by this Deed; or
- 9.1.4 otherwise prejudice the interests of the Secured Party under the Transaction Documents.

## 9.2 After demand by the Secured Party

After the Secured Party so demands following the occurrence of a Default, the Chargor shall:

- 9.2.1 promptly pay over to the Secured Party all moneys arising from the Distribution Rights relating to the Shares and Investments which it may receive and until that payment is made hold such monies on trust for the Secured Party; and
- 9.2.2 exercise, or refrain from exercising, all voting and other rights and powers attached to the Shares and Investments in any manner which the Secured Party may direct.

## 9.3 Completion of transfers

At any time after a Default the Secured Party may, without notice to the Chargor:

- 9.3.1 complete and date any of the transfers and other documents referred to in Clauses 7.4.3(b) and 7.4.3(c) (Shares and Investments); and
- 9.3.2 transfer all or any of the Shares or Investments to itself, a third party or a nominee.

## 9.4 No nominations

The Chargor shall not make any nomination, or permit to continue in effect any nomination it may have made, to permit another person to enjoy or exercise any of its rights in relation to any of its Share or Investments.

#### 10 Enforcement

## 10.1 When Security becomes enforceable

- 10.1.1 The Security created by the Chargor under this Deed shall become immediately enforceable:
  - (a) on the occurrence of a Default; or
  - (b) if the Chargor so requests,

and the Secured Party may enforce this Security, and its rights under this Deed, in the manner and on the terms it thinks fit.

- 10.1.2 In particular, the Secured Party may without further notice exercise in relation to the Security Assets:
  - (a) the power of sale and all other powers conferred on mortgagees by the Act or otherwise by law, in each case as extended or otherwise amended by this Deed;
  - (b) to the extent that Clause 10.6 (Right of appropriation) applies, the power to appropriate the relevant Security Assets in accordance with Clause 10.6.2 (Exercise of right of appropriation); and
  - (c) (whether or not it has appointed a Receiver) any or all of the rights which are conferred by this Deed (whether expressly or by implication) on a Receiver.

## 10.2 Law of Property Act 1925

- 10.2.1 The Secured Liabilities shall be deemed for the purposes of all powers implied by statute to have become due and payable within the meaning of s101 of the Act immediately on the execution of this Deed.
- 10.2.2 The Secured Party and any Receiver is entitled to all of the privileges, immunities and other rights conferred on mortgagees and receivers respectively under the Act.

10.2.3 S93(1) (restriction on the consolidation of mortgages), s103 (restricting the power of sale), ss105, 107(2), 109(6) and 109(8) (application of proceeds of sale) and s109(1) (restricting the power to appoint a receiver) of the Act shall not apply to this Security.

#### 10.3 Protection of third parties

- 10.3.1 No purchaser, mortgagee or other person dealing with the Secured Party, any Receiver or any Delegate shall:
  - (a) be bound to enquire whether its entitlement to exercise any of its rights has arisen or become exercisable or whether any Secured Liabilities remain outstanding; or
  - (b) be concerned as to the application of any money paid, raised or borrowed or as to the propriety or regularity of any sale by or other dealing with the Secured Party, that Receiver or that Delegate (as applicable).
- 10.3.2 All of the protection to purchasers contained in ss104 and 107(1) of the Act and s42(3) of the Insolvency Act 1986 shall apply to any person purchasing from or dealing with the Secured Party, any Receiver or any Delegate as if the Secured Liabilities had become due and the statutory powers of sale and of appointing a Receiver in relation to the Security Assets had arisen on the date of this Deed.

#### 10.4 Delegation

- 10.4.1 The Secured Party and (to the extent his or her appointment so permits) a Receiver (the "Appointor") may delegate to any person or persons all or any of the rights which are exercisable by it under this Deed. A delegation under this Clause 10.4.1 may be made in any manner (including by power of attorney) and on any terms (including power to sub-delegate) which the Appointor may think fit.
- 10.4.2 A delegation under Clause 10.4.1 shall not preclude the subsequent exercise of the relevant rights by the Appointor nor preclude the Appointor from making a subsequent delegation of them to another person or from revoking that delegation.
- 10.4.3 Neither the Secured Party nor any Receiver shall be liable or responsible to the Chargor for any loss or damage arising from any act, default, omission or misconduct on the part of any delegate or sub-delegate.

#### 10.5 No liability

- 10.5.1 None of the Secured Party, any Receiver, any Delegate or any Administrator shall:
  - (a) owe any duty to the Chargor to exercise any of its rights under thisDeed;

- (b) be liable or responsible to the Chargor for any losses (including loss of profit), claims, demands, actions, proceedings, damages and other payments, costs, expenses and other liabilities of any kind arising out of any exercise, purported exercise or non-exercise of any of its rights under this Deed;
- (c) be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any fluctuation in exchange rates in connection with any purchase of currencies under Clause 15 (*Currency*); or
- (d) for the loss or destruction of, or damage to, any of the Security Assets, or to any documents of or evidencing title to them, which are in the possession or held to the order of any such person (and which will be held by such persons at the expense and risk of the Chargor).
- 10.5.2 None of the Secured Party, any Receiver, any Delegate or any Administrator shall be liable as a mortgagee in possession or otherwise to account in relation to all or any part of the Security Assets for any loss on realisation or for any other action, default or omission for which it might otherwise be liable as a mortgagee in possession.

## 10.6 Right of appropriation

10.6.1 Application of right of appropriation

This Clause 10.6 applies to the extent the Security Assets constitute "financial collateral" and this Deed constitutes a "financial collateral arrangement" (within the meaning of the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No. 2) Regulations 2003).

# 10.6.2 Exercise of right of appropriation

- (a) If and to the extent that this Clause 10.6 applies, the Secured Party may appropriate the Security Assets in or towards discharge of the Secured Liabilities in such order as the Secured Party may (subject to any specific provisions of the Transaction Documents in this regard) determine.
- (b) If the Secured Party exercises its right of appropriation then it shall for these purposes value:
  - (i) any relevant Account or other bank account in the name of the Chargor at the amount standing to the credit of that account, together with any accrued interest not credited to the account, at the time of the appropriation; and
  - (ii) any other relevant Security Asset by reference to an independent valuation or other procedure determined by the Secured Party, acting reasonably, at the time of the appropriation.

#### 10.7 Receivers

# 10.7.1 Appointment of Receiver

- (a) Subject to the remainder of this Clause 10.7.1, the Secured Party may in its absolute discretion and without notice to the Chargor appoint one or (at the same or different times) more persons as a receiver of all or any part of the Security Assets if:
  - (i) this Security has become enforceable; or
  - (ii) the Chargor so requests in writing at any time.
  - (b) No appointment may be made pursuant to Clause 10.7.1:
    - (i) solely as a result of the obtaining of, or with a view to obtaining, a moratorium under s1A or Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; or
    - (ii) of an administrative receiver if that appointment would contravene s72A of the Insolvency Act 1986.
  - (c) If at any time two or more persons hold office as Receivers, each of those Receivers shall (subject to the terms of his or her appointment) be entitled to exercise individually all of the rights conferred on Receivers under this Deed to the exclusion of the other or others.

# 10.7.2 Remuneration

The Secured Party may fix the remuneration of any Receiver from time to time, without being limited by the maximum rate specified in s58 of the Insolvency Act 1986.

#### 10.7.3 Removal and replacement

The Secured Party may:

- (a) subject to obtaining a court order if required by law, remove any Receiver by written notice; and
- (b) replace (by appointment pursuant to Clause 10.7.1) any Receiver whose appointment has terminated.

# 10.7.4 Agent of the Chargor

- (a) Any Receiver appointed under this Deed whether acting solely or jointly shall be deemed to be the agent of the Chargor and to be in the same position as a receiver appointed under the Act.
- (b) The Chargor shall be solely responsible for the acts, omissions, defaults, losses and misconduct of any Receiver and for his or her remuneration. The Secured Party shall not be in any way liable or

responsible either to the Chargor or to any other person for any Receiver.

# 10.8 Powers of the Secured Party, any Receiver or Delegate

#### 10.8.1 General

- (a) A Receiver has:
  - (i) all of the rights set out below in this Clause 10.8;
  - (ii) all of the rights granted by Schedule 2 of the Insolvency Act 1986 to any receiver and all of the rights granted by the Act to any receiver or mortgagor or mortgagee in possession; and
  - (iii) whether or not it is an administrative receiver, all of the rights granted by the Insolvency Act 1986 to any administrative receiver including without limitation the powers set out in Schedule 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986,

in each case as such rights are varied and extended by this Deed.

- (b) The Secured Party has after this Security has become enforceable the rights referred to in Clause 10.8.1(a), whether or not it has appointed a Receiver.
- (c) A Delegate has the rights referred to in Clause 10.8.1(a) to the extent provided in its, his or her appointment.
- (d) Any reference in this Clause 10.8 to any Security Assets includes, in the case of a Receiver or Delegate, only those Security Assets over or in respect of which it, he or she has been appointed.
- (e) The Secured Party, a Receiver or Delegate may exercise its, his or her rights under this Clause 10.8 in such manner and on such terms as it, he or she thinks fit.

# 10.8.2 Collection, leasing and disposal of Security Assets

- (a) The right to enter into, take possession of, give up possession of, get in and collect any Security Asset.
- (b) The right to grant, vary, surrender or accept the surrender of Leases, easements or other rights over or in respect of Security Assets on such terms as the Secured Party, Receiver or Delegate may think fit, without the need to comply with ss99 and 100 of the Act.
- (c) The right to sell or otherwise dispose of any Security Asset on any terms and for any consideration as the Secured Party, Receiver or Delegate may think fit. This consideration may include cash, debentures, obligations, shares or other security and may be payable in a lump sum or instalments.

- (d) The right to sever any plant, machinery or other fixtures from the premises to which they are attached and the right to dispose of them separately in accordance with Clause 10.8.2(c).
- (e) The right, in connection with or to facilitate any disposal, to release or discharge, whether or not for any consideration, any debts comprised in the Security Assets.
- (f) The right to give a valid receipt for any money and execute any discharge, assurance or other document which may be proper or desirable to realise any Security Asset.

# 10.8.3 Upkeep of Security Assets

- (a) The right to repair, decorate, furnish, maintain, alter, improve, replace, renew or add to the Security Assets.
- (b) The right to develop any Security Asset and for that purpose to apply for any Authorisations, enter into any documents and carry out any works.
- (c) The right to insure any Security Assets.

# 10.8.4 Carrying on business

- (a) The right to carry on any business of the Chargor.
- (b) The right to appoint or dismiss officers, employees, agents, contractors, advisors and others.
- (c) The right to purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any assets.
- (d) The right to borrow or otherwise raise money either unsecured or on the security of the Security Assets (whether ranking in priority to, pari passu with or behind this Security).
  - (e) The right to lend money or advance credit to any customer of the Chargor.

#### 10.8.5 Contracts and proceedings

- (a) The right to perform, repudiate, terminate, amend or enter into any contract or other document relating to any Security Asset.
- (b) The right to bring, prosecute, defend, enforce and discontinue any action, suit, arbitration or other proceedings relating to any Security Assets.
- (c) The right to pursue, settle, arrange, compromise or submit to arbitration any claim, account, dispute or demand relating to, or to make any Tax election in respect of, any Security Asset.

#### 10.8.6 Other rights

- (a) The right to form a subsidiary of the Chargor and the right to lease, license or transfer any Security Asset to it.
- (b) The right to do any other act or thing which the Secured Party,
  Receiver or Delegate may consider:
  - (i) desirable or necessary to protect, preserve or realise any Security Asset; or
  - (ii) Incidental or conducive to any rights conferred on the Secured Party, Receiver or Delegate under or by virtue of this Deed or by law.
- (c) The right to exercise and do in relation to any Security Asset all the rights and things which the Secured Party, Receiver or Delegate would be capable of exercising or doing if it, he or she were the absolute beneficial owner of that Security Asset.
- (d) The right to use the name of the Chargor to exercise any of the rights referred to in this Clause 10.8.

# 10.9 Appointment of Administrator

# 10.9.1 Appointment of Administrator

- (a) The Secured Party may without notice appoint any one or more persons to be an administrator of the Chargor pursuant to Schedule B1, Paragraph 14 of the Insolvency Act 1986 at any time after this Security has become enforceable.
- (b) Any appointment under Clause 10.9.1(a) shall be made in the prescribed form by the Secured Party.

# 10.9.2 Replacement of an Administrator

The Secured Party may apply to the court for the termination of the appointment of any Administrator and/or the appointment of a replacement for any Administrator whose appointment ends for any reason.

#### 10.10 Application of monies

- 10.10.1 The Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate shall apply monies received by them under this Deed after the Security created under this Deed has become enforceable in the following order:
  - (a) first, in or towards the payment pro rata of, or the provision pro rata for, any unpaid costs and expenses of the Secured Party and any Receiver or Delegate under this Deed or which are incidental to any Receiver's or Delegate's appointment, together with interest at the Default Rate (both before and after judgment) from the date those amounts became due until the date they are irrevocably paid in full;

- (b) second, in or towards the payment pro rata of, or the provision pro rata for, any unpaid fees, commission or remuneration of the Secured Party and any Receiver or Delegate;
- (c) third, in or towards the discharge of all liabilities having priority to the Secured Liabilities;
- (d) fourth, in or towards the discharge of the Secured Liabilities; and
- (e) fifth, in the payment of any surplus to the Chargor or other person entitled to it.

and section 109(8) of the Act shall not apply.

- 10.10.2 Notwithstanding Clause 10.10.1, during the Security Period the Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate may:
  - (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other monies, Security or other rights held or received by it in respect of the Secured Liabilities or apply and enforce them in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against the Secured Liabilities or otherwise) and the Chargor shall not be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
  - (b) hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any monies received from the Chargor or on account of the Secured Liabilities.
- 10.10.3 This Clause 10.10 does not prejudice the right of the Secured Party to recover any shortfall from the Chargor.
- 10.10.4 Clause 10.10.1 will override any appropriation made by the Chargor.

# 10.11 General indemnity

- 10.11.1 The Chargor shall indemnify the Secured Party, any Receiver, any Delegate and their respective officers and employees against all actions, proceedings, demands, claims, costs, expenses, and other liabilities incurred by them in respect of all or any of the following:
  - any act or omission by any of them in relation to all or any of the Security Assets;
  - (b) any payment relating to or in respect of all or any of the Security
    Assets which becomes payable at any time by any of them;
  - (c) any stamp, registration or similar Tax or duty which becomes payable in connection with the entry into, or the performance or enforcement of, this Deed;
  - (d) carrying out or purporting to carry out any of the rights, powers and discretions conferred on them by or permitted under this Deed;
  - (e) any breach by the Chargor of any of its covenants or other obligations to the Secured Party,

- (f) the taking, holding, protection or enforcement of this Security; and
- (g) acting as Secured Party, Receiver or Delegate under the Transaction Documents or which otherwise relates to any of the Security Assets,

except in the case of gross negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of that person.

10.11.2 The Chargor shall pay interest at the Default Rate on the sums payable under this Clause 10.11 from the date on which the liability was incurred to the date of actual payment (both before and after judgment).

# 10.12 Indemnity out of the Security Assets

The Secured Party, any Receiver or Delegate and their respective officers and employees shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the Security Assets in respect of the actions, proceedings, demands, claims, costs, expenses and liabilities referred to in Clause 10.11 (General indemnity).

The Original Secured Party shall hold on trust for the PPF any sums it receives in relation to this indemnity which are to be applied to the PPF at the date it becomes the Secured Party.

#### 11 General Security Provisions

# 11.1 Redemption of prior Security

The Secured Party may at any time:

- 11.1.1 redeem, or procure the transfer to itself of, any prior Security over any Security Assets; or
- 11.1.2 settle and pass the accounts of the holder of any prior Security. Any accounts so settled and passed shall in the absence of manifest error be conclusive and binding on the Chargor.

#### 11.2 Subsequent Security

# 11.2.1 At any time following:

- the receipt by the Secured Party of notice (either actual or constructive) of any subsequent Security affecting any Security Assets;
- (b) an Insolvency Event occurring in relation to the Chargor; or
- (c) any disposal of any Security Assets in breach of Clause 8.1 (Disposals),

the Secured Party may open a new account or accounts in the name of the Chargor (whether or not it permits any existing account to continue). If the Secured Party does not open such a new account, it shall nevertheless be deemed to have done so at the time of receipt of the notice, the commencement of the Insolvency Event or the disposal.

11.2.2 From that time all payments received by the Secured Party for the account of the Chargor shall be credited or treated as having been credited to the new account (or deemed new account) and shall not operate to reduce the amount of the Secured Liabilities at the time of receipt of the notice, the commencement of the Insolvency Event or the disposal.

#### 12 Tacking

For the purposes of section 94(1) of the Act and section 49(3) of the Land Registration Act 2002 the Secured Party confirms it may make further advances to the Chargor on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Transaction Documents.

# 13 Further assurance

# 13.1 Registration

The Chargor consents to registration of this Deed at Companies House pursuant to Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006.

# 13.2 Application to Land Registrar

The Chargor shall do all things requested by the Secured Party to facilitate the registration of this Security against any Land Registry title comprised in the land which forms part of the Security Assets from time to time. In particular, each Chargor shall:

13.2.1 apply to the Chief Land Registrar for a restriction to be entered on each such title in the following terms:

"No disposition of the registered estate by the proprietor of the registered estate is to be registered without a written consent signed by the proprietor for the time being of the Deed dated [•] in favour of [•] referred to in the charges register or, if appropriate, signed on such proprietor's behalf by its secretary or conveyancer" and

13.2.2 if the Secured Party so requests, certify that the security over the land created by this Deed does not contravene any of the provisions of its constitutional documents.

# 13.3 Further action

The Chargor shall, at its own expense, promptly take any action and sign or execute any further documents which the Secured Party may require in order to:

- 13.3.1 give effect to the requirements of this Deed;
- 13.3.2 protect, preserve and perfect the Security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Deed;
- 13.3.3 protect and preserve the ranking of the Security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Deed with any other Security over any assets of the Chargor; or

13.3.4 facilitate the realisation of all or any of the Security Assets or the exercise of any rights, powers and discretions conferred on the Secured Party, any Receiver or Delegate or any Administrator in connection with all or any of the Security Assets.

The action required under this Clause 13.3 may include the execution of any Security, any assignment or transfer over or of any asset, any notice of this Security or any other document.

# 13.4 Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994

The covenant set out in section 2(1)(b) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994 shall extend to the provisions set out in this Clause 13.

#### 14 Power of attorney

The Chargor irrevocably and by way of security appoints each of:

- 14.1.1 the Secured Party;
- 14.1.2 any Receiver; and
- 14.1.3 any Delegate,

jointly and severally as the Chargor's attorney, in the Chargor's name, on its behalf and in such manner as the attorney may in its or his absolute discretion think fit following the occurrence of a Default or following the failure by the Chargor to comply with a request from the Secured Party to take any action and sign or execute any further documents which the Chargor is required to take, sign or execute in accordance with the Transaction Documents. The Chargor agrees, promptly on the request of the Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate, to ratify and confirm all such actions taken and documents signed or executed.

#### 15 Currency

#### 15.1 The Spot Rate

In this Clause 15, "**Spot Rate**" means the spot rate of exchange of HSBC UK Bank plc or such other bank as the Secured Party may select for the purchase of any currency with any other currency in the London foreign exchange market.

### 15.2 Conversion of moneys received

The Secured Party may convert any moneys received, recovered or realised in any currency under this Deed (including the proceeds of any previous conversion under this Clause 15) from their existing currency into any other currency, by purchasing that other currency at the Spot Rate.

#### 15.3 Hedging

If the Chargor fails to pay any sum under this Deed on the due date, the Secured Party may, without notice to the Chargor, purchase at the Spot Rate any currency which the Secured Party considers necessary or desirable to cover the liabilities of the Chargor to pay that sum.

#### 16 Discharge of Security

#### 16.1 Discharge

Without prejudice to Clause 16.4 (CVA Termination) below, at the end of the Security Period, unless any third party has any subrogation or other rights in respect of the Security created by this Deed at that time, the Secured Party shall, or shall procure that its appointees will, at the request and cost of the Chargor:

- 16.1.1 release the Security Assets from this Deed;
- 16.1.2 re-assign to the Chargor those Security Assets that have been assigned to the Secured Party under Clause 3 (*Creation of Security*), and
- 16.1.3 register any such release and reassignment with the Registrar of Companies and any other asset registry in respect of the Security Asset being released from the Security,

and section 93 of the Act shall not apply to this Deed.

#### 16.2 No discharge if payment avoided

For the purposes of this Clause 16 and the definition of Security Period, a Secured Liability will not be considered to have been irrevocably paid or discharged in respect of the termination of Security Period if the Secured Party, acting reasonably, considers that any payment made in respect of it is capable of being avoided and:

- 16.2.1 "avoided" means avoided, restored or adjusted in whole or part under any law relating to insolvency (and "avoidance" shall be construed accordingly); and
- 16.2.2 "settlement" means a release, settlement, discharge, re-assignment or arrangement.

#### 16.3 Release of Security

- 16.3.1 Any settlement made by the Secured Party in this Clause 16 on the faith of any assurance, security or payment shall be conditional on that assurance, security or payment not being avoided.
- 16.3.2 If any avoidance occurs as referred to in Clause 16.3.1, then the settlement given by the Secured Party shall have no effect and shall not prejudice the right of the Secured Party to enforce this Security in respect of the Secured Liabilities. As between the Chargor and the Secured Party, this Security shall (notwithstanding the settlement) be deemed to have remained at all times in effect and held by the Secured Party as security for the Secured Liabilities.

# 16.4 CVA Termination

If a Notice of Termination (as such term is defined in the Proposals) is issued by the Supervisors (as such term is defined in the Proposals) pursuant to the Proposals in the circumstances set out in Clause 4 (*Termination of certain Transaction Documents*) of the Distribution Matching Agreement, this Deed shall immediately and

automatically terminate and discharge and the Chargor shall be under no further obligation to the Secured Party under this Deed and the Secured Party shall or shall procure that its appointees will, at the request and cost of the Chargor, release the Security Assets from this Deed.

#### 17 Costs and expenses

# 17.1 Transaction expenses

The Chargor shall promptly on demand pay each of the Secured Party and the PPF the amount of all costs and expenses (including legal fees) reasonably incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation, printing, execution, registration and perfection of this Deed and the Transaction Documents and any of the interests in them or arising from them.

# 17.2 Amendment, waiver and management time costs

If the Chargor requests an amendment, waiver, consent or release of or in relation to this Deed, the Chargor shall, within three Business Days of demand, reimburse each of the Secured Party and the PPF for the amount of all costs and expenses (including legal fees) reasonably incurred by it in responding to, evaluating, negotiating or complying with that request or requirement.

Any amount payable to the PPF shall include in addition the cost of utilising the management time or other resources and will be calculated on the basis of such reasonable daily or hourly rates as the PPF shall determine and may notify to the Chargor from time to time, and is in addition to any other fee paid or payable to the Original Secured Party or the PPF.

#### 17.3 Enforcement costs

The Chargor shall, within three Business Days of demand, pay to the Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate the amount of all costs and expenses (including legal fees) (together with any applicable Tax) incurred by the Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate in connection with the enforcement of, or the preservation or release of any rights under this Deed, the investigation of any possible Default and any proceedings instituted by or against the Secured Party or any Receiver or Delegate as a consequence of taking or holding this Security or enforcing its rights under it.

#### 17.4 Stamp Taxes

The Chargor shall pay and, within three Business Days of demand, indemnify the Secured Party against any loss or liability the Secured Party incurs in relation to all stamp duty, registration and other similar Taxes payable in respect of any Transaction Document.

#### 17.5 Interest

If the Chargor fails to pay any amount payable by it under this Deed on its due date, interest shall accrue on a daily basis on the overdue amount from the due date up to the date of actual payment (both before and after judgment and to the extent

interest at a default rate is not otherwise being paid on that sum). This interest shall accrue at the Default Rate.

# 18 Assignment

#### 18.1 Procedure

- 18.1.1 The Chargor may not assign, transfer or novate all or any of its rights and obligations under this Deed or any other Transaction Document.
- 18.1.2 A Secured Party (other than the Original Secured Party) may assign any of its rights under this Deed to any person to whom it assigns or transfers any of its rights or obligations under the Transaction Documents.
- 18.1.3 Subject as follows, the Original Secured Party may not assign or transfer its rights under this Deed and any other Transaction Documents to any third party.
- 18.1.4 In the event that the PPF assumes responsibility for the Pension Scheme or any part thereof for the purposes of section 161 of the Pensions Act, it is acknowledged that the Original Secured Party's rights under this Deed (and the Transaction Documents) shall be transferred by operation of law to the PPF.
- 18.1.5 The Original Secured Party may enter into such assignments, assignations, transfers, conveyances or such other documents as may be required to facilitate the transfer of the Original Secured Party's rights under this Deed and/or any of the other Transaction Documents (as applicable) to the PPF pursuant to Clause 18.1.4 above.
- 18.1.6 Nothing in this Clause 18 shall purport to restrict any other assignment, assignation or transfer of rights, obligations or liabilities, by operation of law or otherwise, from the Original Secured Party to the PPF.

#### 18.2 Disclosure of information

The Secured Party may disclose to any assignee or proposed assignee any information it thinks fit in relation to the Chargor and any Transaction Document.

#### 19 Notices

#### 19.1 Communications in writing

Any communication to be made under or in connection with this Deed shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, letter or email.

#### 19.2 Addresses

19,2.1 The address and fax number (and the department or officer, if any, for whose attention the communication is to be made) of each party for any communication or document to be made or delivered under or in connection with this Deed is that identified with its name below or any substitute address, fax number, email address or department or officer as either party may notify to the other by not less than five Business Days' notice.

19.2.2 The addresses referred to in Clause 19.2.1 are:

#### (a) The Chargor:

1 Cadogan Square, Cadogan Street, Glasgow, G2 7HF

Attention: Stewart Carruth and Sara Thiam

Email: sara.thiam@scdi.org.uk & swcarruth@yahoo.com

With a copy to: Howard Smith and Blair Nimmo, KPMG LLP, 319

St Vincent Street, Glasgow, G2 5AS

# (b) The Original Secured Party:

Dalriada Trustees Limited, Linen Loft, Adelaide Street, Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8FE

Attention:

Sarah Ballantyne

<u>and</u>

Robert Craig Campbell,

(c) PPF:

Renaissance 12 Dingwall Road Croydon CRO 2NA

Attention:

Head of Restructuring

& Insolvency

Email:

malcolm.weir@ppf.co.uk

# 19.3 Delivery

- 19.3.1 Any communication or document made or delivered by one person to another under or in connection with this Deed will only be effective:
  - (a) If by way of fax or email, when received in legible form; or
  - (b) if by way of letter, (i) when it has been left at the relevant address or (ii) three Business Days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address,

and, if a particular department or officer is specified as part of its address details provided under Clause 19.2 (Addresses), if addressed to that department or officer.

19.3.2 Any communication or document to be made or delivered to the Secured Party will be effective only when actually received by the Secured Party and then only if it is expressly marked for the attention of the department or officer identified with the Secured Party's signature below (or any substitute department or officer as the Secured Party or its successor/assignee shall specify for this purpose).

#### 19.4 English language

- 19.4.1 Any notice given under or in connection with this Deed must be in English.
- 19.4.2 All other documents provided under or in connection with this Deed must be:
  - (a) in English; or
  - (b) if not in English, and if so required by the Secured Party accompanied by a certified English translation and, in this case, the English translation will prevail unless the document is a constitutional, statutory or other official document.

#### 20 Calculations and certificates

#### 20.1 Accounts

In any litigation or arbitration proceedings arising out of or in connection with this Deed, the entries made in the accounts maintained by the Secured Party are in the absence of manifest error prima facie evidence of the matters to which they relate.

#### 20.2 Certificates and determinations

Any certification or determination by the Secured Party of a rate or amount under this Deed is, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the matters to which it relates.

#### 20.3 Set-off

The Secured Party may set off any matured obligation due from the Chargor under the Transaction Documents (to the extent beneficially owned by the Secured Party) against any matured obligation owed by the Secured Party to the Chargor, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation. If the obligations are in different currencies, the Secured Party may convert either obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off.

#### 21 Partial invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of this Deed is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired.

# 22 Remedies and waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Secured Party, any right or remedy under this Deed shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies provided in this Deed are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

#### 23 Amendments and waivers

Subject to Clause 1.6 (PPF Consents), any provision of this Deed may be amended or walved only with the written consent of the Chargor, the Secured Party and the PPF.

# 24 Counterparts

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Deed.

#### 25 Governing law and enforcement

# 25.1 Governing law

Scots law governs this Deed, its interpretation and any non-contractual obligation arising from or connected with it.

#### 25.2 Jurisdiction

- 25.2.1 The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Deed (including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Deed or any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Deed) (a "Dispute").
- 25.2.2 The Parties agree that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no party will argue to the contrary.
- 25.2.3 This Clause 25.2 is for the benefit of the Secured Party and the PPF only. As a result, the Secured Party and the PPF shall not be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Secured Party and the PPF may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

#### **EXECUTION:**

The Parties have shown their acceptance of the terms of this Deed by executing it, in the case of the Chargor as a deed, at the end of the Schedules and it is delivered on the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.

# Schedule 1 Land charged by way of legal mortgage

Part 1

Registered Land

[None]

Part 2

Unregistered Land

[None]

# Schedule 2 Shares

None

# Schedule 3 Current Accounts

Name of Chargor	Account bank	Sort code		Account number
The Scottish Council for Development and Industry	Bank of Scotland plc			
The Scottish Council for Development and			***************************************	
Industry				· 

#### Schedule 4 Forms of letter to and from the Account Bank

# Part 1 - Notice to Account Bank regarding the Controlled Account(s)47

[On relevant Chargor's notepaper.]

[This form of notice is drafted on the basis that the relevant Chargor has a single Controlled Account. If any Chargor has more than one Controlled Account, make appropriate drafting adjustments. Delete this note and any other square bracketed notes in italics below before the notice is signed by the Chargor and sent to the Account Bank.]

To: [insert name and address of Account Bank]

Date: [date]

Dear Sirs

# Deed of debenture dated [date] between (among others) [Chargor] and [Secured Party] (the "Deed")

We refer to the account which we hold with you numbered [number], sort code [sort code], as it may from time to time be re-designated or re-numbered (the "Controlled Account").

We are writing to give you notice of certain rights in respect of the Controlled Account that we have granted to the Secured Party (the "Secured Party").

Under the Deed we have charged by way of fixed charge in favour of the Secured Party all amounts standing to the credit of the Controlled Account from time to time (the "Deposit") and all of our right, title and interest in, and relating to, the Controlled Account.

Regardless of any previous authorisations or instructions which we may have given you and without making any enquiry as to the justification for the matter, we irrevocably authorise and instruct you:

- (a) to disclose to the Secured Party any information relating to us, the Controlled Account and the Deposit which the Secured Party may from time to time request you to disclose to it;
- (b) to hold the Deposit to the order of the Secured Party, and not permit the whole or any part of the Deposit to be withdrawn by us;
- (c) to pay or release all or any part of the Deposit, and generally to act in relation to the Deposit, only in accordance with the written instructions of the Secured Party;
- (d) to comply with the terms of any written notice or instructions in any way relating to or purporting to relate to the Controlled Account or the Deposit which you may receive from the Secured Party (without any reference to or further authority from us and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for the notice, statement or instruction or the validity of it) [; and

(e) not, without the prior written consent of the Secured Party, to renew or roll over the Deposit for a fixed period exceeding [three][six] months].

The instructions and authorisations contained in this letter may not be revoked or varied without the written agreement of the Secured Party.

This letter is governed by English law.

Please confirm your agreement to the above by sending an acknowledgement to the Secured Party in the form attached, with a copy to ourselves.

Yours faithfully,		
for and on behalf of [Chargor]		
copy: [Secured Party]		
[address]		

# Part 2 - Notice to Account Bank regarding the Current Accounts

[On Chargor's notepaper.]

To: [insert name and address of Account Bank]

Date: [date]

Dear Sirs

# Deed of debenture dated [date] between (among others) [Chargor] and [Secured Party] (the "Deed")

- 1. We refer to the follows accounts we hold with you, as they may from time to time be redesignated or re-numbered:
  - 1.1. [insert Account Number/Sort Code for each Current Account held by the Chargor];

1.2. [ ]

(the "Current Accounts").

- 2. We are writing to give you notice of certain rights in respect of the Current Accounts that we have granted to [Secured Party] (the "Secured Party").
- 3. Under the Deed we have charged by way of floating charge to the Secured Party all amounts standing to the credit of each Current Account from time to time (each a Deposit and together the Deposits) and all of our right, title and interest in, and relating to, each Current Account.
- 4. We notify you that:
  - 4.1. after you have received notice from the Secured Party under paragraph 6, we may not withdraw any moneys from any Current Account without first obtaining the prior written consent of the Secured Party;
    - 4.2. there is a prohibition in the Deed on the creation of any further Security over any Current Account; and
    - 4.3. you are authorised to disclose information relating to the Current Accounts to the Secured Party on the request of the Secured Party.
- 5. After you have received notice from the Secured Party under paragraph 6, we irrevocably authorise and instruct you to:
  - 5.1. hold all moneys from time to time standing to the credit of each Current Account to the order of the Secured Party; and

- 5.2. pay all or any part of those moneys to the Secured Party (or as it may direct) promptly following receipt of written instructions from the Secured Party to that effect.
- 6. By counter-signing this notice the Secured Party confirms that you may accept instructions from us to make withdrawals from each Current Account (without prejudice to any restrictions on our right to make such withdrawals permitted by the Deed) until such time as the Secured Party shall notify you (with a copy to us) in writing that its permission is withdrawn.

We acknowledge that you may comply with the instructions in this letter without any further permission from us.

The instructions in this letter may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Secured Party.

This letter is governed by English law.

Please confirm your agreement to the above by sending an acknowledgement to the Secured Party in the form attached, with a copy to ourselves.

Yours faithfully,	
ર્જાર્યું હાર્યું મહાને લાગ નહીં ને પાલને કે નહીં જે મહાર માટે માટે માટે માટે મોટે છે.	,
[Chargor]	
	********
[Secured Party]	

# Part 3 - Form of acknowledgements from Account Bank

[On Account Bank's notepaper]	
To: [insert name and address of Secured Party]	٠.
Attention: [ ]	
Date: [date]	

Dear Sirs

# Deed of debenture dated [date] between (among others) [Chargor] and [Secured Party] (the "Deed")

We acknowledge receipt of a notice (the "**Notice**") from [*Chargor*] (the Chargor) dated [*date*] of the security granted by the Chargor to the Secured Party over the [Controlled Account][Current Accounts] under the Deed.

Words defined in the Notice have the same meaning in this letter.

#### We confirm that:

- a) we consent to the charge of the [Controlled Account][Current Accounts], acknowledge receipt of the Notice and accept the authorisations and instructions contained in the Notice and we undertake to comply with its terms;
- b) we have not received notice of:
  - i. any other assignment of or encumbrance over [the Controlled Account/any Current Accounts] or [the][any] Deposit; or
  - ii. any interest, claim or right in or to them by any third party, and we shall [but without incurring any liability in respect of the obligation] promptly give you notice of any such actual, potential or asserted assignment, encumbrance, interest, claim or right of which we become aware; and
- c) we do not, and will not, hold or otherwise have the benefit of any Security or other encumbrance over [the Controlled Account/any Current Accounts] or [the][any]
   Deposit; and
- d) we will not exercise any right of combination, consolidation, merger or set-off which we may have in respect of [the Controlled Account][the Current Accounts] except for the netting of credit and debit balances pursuant to current account netting arrangements expressly permitted under the Deed or if:
  - we exercise that right in respect of an obligation which purports to be secured under the Deed; and

ii. we exercise that right pursuant to, or in accordance with, the terms of the Transaction Documents (as that term applies in the Deed).

We are aware that you are relying on this letter in connection with your rights under the Deed.

This letter is governed by English law.

Υοι	ırs fai	thful	ly,	
		* **	1 in 15	

for and on behalf of

[Account Bank]

copy: [Chargor]

#### Schedule 5 Form of notice for Insurances

[On relevant Chargor's notepaper.]		
To: [insert name and address of insurance company]		
Attention: [ ]		
Date: [ <i>date</i> ]		

Dear Sirs

#### Notice of assignment

- 1. We refer to the [specify the relevant insurance policy] dated [date] between us and you (the "Policy")
- 2. We notify you that:
  - 2.1. under a Deed of debenture dated [date] between, among others, us and [insert name of Secured Party] (the "Secured Party") we have assigned to the Secured Party all our right, title and interest in and to, and all benefits accruing under, the Policy (including the right to receive any payments due under the Policy) as security for certain obligations owed to the Secured Party;
  - 2.2. we shall at all times remain solely liable to you for the performance of all of the obligations assumed by us under or in respect of the Policy;
  - 2.3. we have agreed not to waive any rights under, amend, novate, repudiate, rescind or otherwise terminate or permit to be terminated the Policy without the prior written consent of the Secured Party;
  - 2.4. until you receive written notice to the contrary from the Secured Party, you may continue to deal with us in relation to the Policy and credit all moneys to which we are entitled under the Policy to the following account in our name: [insert details of account]. After your receipt of such notice from the Secured Party we will cease to have any right to deal with you in relation to the Policy and from that time you should deal only with the Secured Party and all of the powers, discretions, remedies and other rights which would, but for the Deed of debenture, be vested in us under and in respect of the Policy shall be exercisable by the Secured Party;
  - 2.5. none of the instructions, authorisations and confirmations in this notice can be revoked or varied in any way except with the Secured Party's prior written consent; and
  - 2.6. you are authorised to disclose information relating to the Policy to the Secured Party on request.

- 3. We request that you:
  - 3.1. after receipt of written notice in accordance with paragraph 2.4, ensure that all moneys to which we are entitled under the Policy are credited to the account of the Secured Party specified in that notice (and are not paid to us);
  - 3.2. note on the Policy the Secured Party's security Interest under the Debenture;
  - 3.3. give the Secured Party written notice of any breach of the Policy as soon as you become aware of it and accept as an adequate remedy for that breach, performance by the Secured Party of those obligations within 30 days of that notice; and
  - 3.4. give the Secured Party not less than 30 day's written notice of your [terminating/giving notice to terminate] the Policy or allowing the Policy to lapse.
- 4. Please sign and return the enclosed copy of this notice to the Secured Party (with a copy to the Chargor) to confirm that you:
  - 4.1. consent to the assignment of the Policy and agree to the terms of this notice and to act in accordance with its provisions;
  - 4.2. have not received any notice that any third party has or will have any right in, or has made or will be making any claim or demand or taking any action in respect of, any of our rights in, to, under, in respect of or derived from the Policy;
  - 4.3. have not received notice that we have assigned our rights under the Policy to a third party or created any other interest (whether by way of security or otherwise) in the Policy in favour of a third party; and
  - 4.4. have not claimed or exercised, nor do you have any outstanding right to claim or exercise against the Chargor, any right of set-off, counter-claim or other right relating to the Policy.
- 5. The provisions of this notice are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully		
\$26.74.28.74.24.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74.74	and a transministration of the state of the	
for and on beh	alf of	
[insert name o	f Chargor]	
Copy to: Secur	ed Party	

# [On acknowledgement copy]

o: [insert name and address of Secured Party]	
opy to: [insert name and address of the Chargor]	
We acknowledge receipt of the above notice and confirm the matters set out in paragraph	4.
or and on behalf of	
insert name of insurance company]	
Date: [date]	

# Signatories to the Deed of Debenture

The Chargor		
executed as a deed and delivered when dated by The Scottish Council for Development and Industry acting by a director in the presence of:  signature	signature  SARA D-UP  print name	Director.
of witness		
name NEIL CAMBELL print name of witness		
address SHEPHERD AND WEDDER 1 EXCHANGE CRESCENT EDINBURCH, EH3 8UL	, CONFERENCE SOUN	RE
The Original Secured Party		
executed as a delivered when dated by Dalriada Trustees Limited (as trustee for and on behalf of The Scottish Council For Development and Industry Pension		Divoctor
Fund)	signature	Director
acting by:		
	signaturë	Secretary
Print Name of Director		
Print Name of Secretary		

# Signatories to the Deed of Debenture

The Chargor		
EXECUTED AS A DEED and		Director
delivered when dated by The Scottish Council for Development and Industry acting by a director in the presence of:	signature	
	print name	•
signature of witness		
nameprint name of witness		
address		
The Original Secured Party		
EXECUTED AS A DEED and delivered when dated by Dalriada Trustees Limited (as trustee for and on behalf of The Scottish Council For Development and Industry Pension		
Fund)	signature	Director
acting by:		
BRUN DAVID SHEVE	signature	Secretary
Print Name of Director		
KORRY STANDED		

Print Name of Secretary

**EXECUTED AS A DEED** and delivered when dated by Robert signature Craig Campbell (as trustee for and on behalf of The Scottish Council for ROBERT CRAIG CAMPBELL Development and Industry Pension Fund) in the presence of: signature of witness ELLIABETH HELEN CAMPBELL name print name of witness address PPF **EXECUTED AS A DEED** and delivered when dated by THE **BOARD OF THE PENSION PROTECTION FUND** The common seal of THE BOARD OF THE PENSION PROTECTION FUND was hereunto affixed and authenticated by: Common seal Authorised Signatory Signature ena production and an analysis of the second of Name

Title

executed as a deed and delivered when dated by Robert Craig Campbell (as trustee for and on behalf of The Scottish Council for Development and Industry Pension Fund) in the presence of:  signature of witness	signature
name print name of witness address	
EXECUTED AS A DEED and delivered when dated by THE BOARD OF THE PENSION PROTECTION FUND  The common seal of THE BOARD OF THE PENSION PROTECTION FUND was hereunto affixed and authenticated by: David Taylor  Authorised Signatory Signature  David Taylor  Name  General Counsel  Title	Common seal